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When 1 was a voung man I won a cattle ranch. I won it
plaving poker, but I almost lost mv life.

As a voungster I was sent to get an education at the
Ccarlisle Indian School in Pennsvlivania. Most didn't 1like
it ...but I did. Before I went to the school 1'd been wild.
Crazyv around horses, a crack shot with rifle or pistol and
among the best trackers and hunters.

In school I learned the white mans wavs. I excelled in
mathematics, languages and of course went out for all the
sports. wWhen I graduated, the school found me a job as a
"Range Detective” for a cattlemans association in north
eastern Nevada,

The cattlemen were going broke. Rustlers were walking
whole herds across the line into Utah or Idaho. The countyvy
was too large for the sheriff to do anv thing meaningfull
to stop the rustling, so thev hired me. I was to get top
hands pav plus bonuses for everv rustler that was convict
ed and sent to the state penitentiarv.

T'he first vear 1 dodged bullets aplentv, sent five to
the penitentiaryv, wounded sixXx and had to Kill 2 more in
self defense. That wasn't hardlv a gun fight.

They salted a water hole that 1 used. My horse got sick
from 1t and the two of them made a mistake when thev tried

to ambush me when I was afoot. Their aim was prettv good,




[ got hit, but my aim was better. I only had to fire twice.
rhe association treated me right. Thev paid the doctor
and mv full wages.

While convelescing I watched from afar how the ranchers
operated. It took a while but I learned that they all were
pretty honest. Oh, they all gave themselves the benefit of
any doubt as to ownership of a maverick. But what they gained
on one end of the ranch thev l1ost on the other. It all evened
out and nobody pointed any fingers.

After the roundup all the ranchers drove their sale
cattle to the railroad shipping point. The buvers were there
representing all the big meat packers. Thev paid with gold
and silver coins

[t was a disappointing vear. The animals were thin
because of the drought and the count was down too. That
vear many ranchers were near bankruptcy.

wWhen all the cattle were loaded and the train pulled

out, the cowbovs were paid off.
A short distance, and across the tracks there was a hot
spring. An enterprising French Canadian had piped hot water

into some big wooden tubs. He charged 50 cents for, "soap
and a soak". His name was Jacques. He called his place
Jacques' Spa.

Everv vear since the railroad came, a bunch of gamblers
came at shipping time. Thev set up saloons and gambling tents
around Jacques' Spa. Soon, Jacques Spa became Kknown as Jacks'

Spa, which became corrupted to Jackpot"”. It was a wild and

woolly place.




Since I made half again what a top hand was paid the
professional gamblers were glad to see me, or rather mv monev.
The stakes got prettyv high. Plentyv of cowbovs lost a whole
vears wages 1in one night. This vear some of the ranchers were
desperate, betting whole sections of their land. Thev had to
have cash to operate for another vear or go bust

['d been winning, hand after hand, all dav. And I had a
lot of gold coins in myv saddlebags nestled between my feet
under the table. A rancher got into the game. He soon lost
all his cash. Then he offered to wager a section of land. 1
won it. He bet another, lost it too. Within 5 or 6 hands 1
owned his whole spred. He was honest with me, said, "The
creeks are drv, the grass is gone and so are the cattle." He
had shipped everv critter he could round up. The sheriff had
taken most of the proceeds for back taxes. He signed over a
quit claim deed to me with out anv fuss. Wished me luck,

said, "S'long" and walked out
As he walked out I felt kind of bad about it all. Winn

ing evervthing he had except his horse and saddle kind of

put me down.

[ didn't feel 1like plaving anv more so I quit. This
made some of the losers mad. Thev wanted a chance to win back
their monev. I hadn't counted myv winnings, but as I picked up

mv saddle bags thev were bulging and their weight amazed me.

Evervone saw me walk out with those bulging saddlebaags

and as I put them on my horses back I was apprehensive.




while I'd been in Nevada 1'd made some friends. 1'd also
made a few enemies in mv line of work. Some of them just might
tryv to relieve me of the weight of all that gold.

I didn't go back to where 1'd laid out my blankets, but
led mv horse in a big semi-circle, across the tracks and be
hind the corrals. Then out a little wavs into the sage.

] spent a cold and sleepless night mulling over my sit
uation. I needed to get the monev to a bank, but the closest
one was in Twin Falls, 2 davs ride awayv.

My horse was hobbled a short distance away, and I heard
him periodicaly during the night. As the sun came up I wonder
ed if some of the losers had spotted him and were waiting to
ambush me.

[ cautiously raised up and slowly surveved my surround
ings. I particalarly watched a low hill some distance away.
My caution was rewarded when I saw movement and eventually
made out at least 3 men. Thev seemed to be watching out
in mv general direction, paving particular attention to my
horse. Full davlight was approaching and 1'd never be able
to sneak past them. There were probably others around in the
sage also. It was time to put myv plans in motion.

[Leaving the saddle and rifle, but taking the bridle
and saddlebags, I crawled noiselessly to a thick clump of
sage. Careful not to make dust or noise that would give me
awav, I dug a hole with mv hands. Slowly and carefully 1 put

the coins into the hole, backfilled it, then put some dead

brush on top to conceal it.




rhen I filled the saddlebags with sand. Cautiously I crawled
awayv from my cache, closer to mv horse and a little further
away from the overlooking hill. I crept as close to him as

I could and still stav in the sage brush. He knew I was there
and nickered. He would have come to me if I'd had an apple.
['d have to go out in the open. Unfortunately we were within
shootin' distance of the 3 watchers.

rving to keep the horse between me and the hill, I stood
up and walked toward him. I talked softly, he stood perfect | v
still, ready to accept the bit. Just as I got the bridle
over his ears a bullet whizzed past.It didn't phase him..
wWe'd been shot at before!

[ still had to get the hobbles off his fore legs. Hold
ing the reins I bent down and lifted one leg and removed the
hobble. Still bending down to finish the job a bullet smacked
into the ground throwing sand in my face as it ricocheted
awav. He danced around some, but I finaly got him free of
the hobbles.

Another shot. this time from close by, and sounded like a
pistol. I leaped upon his bare back, drew my colt and urged

him toward where I thought the shot came from. I saw 2 of them,
afoot in the sage.

[ circled mv horse around the closest one, but lost
track of him in the sage. I could see the further one. He
was shooting at me with a pistol, fortunately, he was a

lousv shot. Suddenly, the one that 1'd lost track of, jumped

up from behind a bush not more than 5 vards away.




By the time I saw him he alread had me in his sights. He
couldt miss if he tried. 1 wondered how much it would hurt
when the bullet hit. BANG! The other guv fired first. Missed
me but hit his partner in the head. It literally exploded.
['m sure I got some brains and blood on me as I rode past him.

More shots from rifles on the hill. By this time I was
out of range from anv thing but a lucky shot. 1 got to an
open spot in the sage, near where 1'd left my saddle and
rifle.

Pretending to be hit, I made a big show of dropping the
saddlebags. Turning the horse 1 rode back to pick them up. AsS
i f wounded I slowely got off my horse. Just as 1'd expected,
the shots came thick and fast, but because of distance, none
verv close.

| hated to do it. I Kicked mv horse in the ribs as hard
as I could. He reared, and took off 1ike he'd been shot
I left the saddlebags in the open and crawled off into the
sage and retrieved mv rifle.

'

[t was one of the new "1 in 100" Winchesters. 1 could
take out the eve of a deer, or a man, at 100 vards. I didn't
have to wait long for a chance to do just that

Four horsemen came down off the hill at a gallop. Whoop-
ing it up like thev were sure I was dead and they were already
spending my moneyv.

The sage was pretty good cover for me, and they wern't

lookin' for me anvwav. I stood up, aimed, and dropped the

last guv in line at about 150 vards.
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Without taking the rifle from my shoulder, 1 worked the
lever. Four seconds later I droped the man just in front of
him. Four seconds later I hit the next one, but he didn't
drop. I lined up on the first man of the string but never got
a chance to fire.

A bullet from a pistol at close range went zinging past
mv head. 1 dropped down out of sight and crawled about 20
vards to an opening in the sage. and listened.

Cowbovs afoot are clumsy. I suspect this guy was clumsier
than most. He was probably the one that shot his partner in
the head. Not content with that, he still wanted to plav in
this highest stakes game

He came crashing through the brush like a grizzlyv bear.
We saw each other at the same instant. He wasn't only clumsv,
but crazy too. We were 50 vards apart. He raised his pistol,
took aim and fired. His bullet didn't even come close. 1
don't know whv he looked so surprised when mv bullet hit him
square in the chest.

[ crept back where 1 could watch my saddlebags. They
were still laving where 1'd dropped them.

The two horsemen had drawn back out of range. One was
obviously wounded. I stood up with mv head and shoulders
above the sage to tryv for a long shot. Just as I raised my
Winchester the wounded rider fell to the ground.

At the same time I heard shouts and horses coming from
the other side of the tracks. The last of the ambushers
heard too, turned his horse and rode awayv at a reckless

gallop. Honest men and friends were comming to my aid.

.




The rains came that winter, and spring brought back

the grass. 1 kept mv job with the Cattlemans Association

for only a couple of more vears.

'here wasn't much point in paving top hand wages to

a "Range Detective" when there were no rustlers to detect

anv where near the corrals at Jacques' Spa
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Most whites don’t even attempt to pronounce my indian name, so they just
call me Smoke, partly because I can be as elusive and hard to catch as smoke

from a campfire. My mother was raped by 6 white men, so I am a half-

breed.

I was still an infant when my mother’s father adopted me in the Indian
fashion. As my father, he was responsible for my well being and training. I

was his only grandchild so he lavished his love, time and attention on me.

As a young man he had been a mighty hunter. One of my earliest memories
1s of him teaching me how to make child sized bow and arrows, and how to
shoot them. As I got older he taught me how to ride a horse bare-back, how
to shoot arrows while at a gallop, how to make arrows for different types of
game. For fish and birds, squirrels and rabbits to bears and b—uffalo.ﬁ . He
taught me about wild animals, read their sign and to track them, gather wild
herbs to rub on that make a hunter invisible to an animals sense of smell. He

showed me what herbs to use for curing illness, and which make salves and

poultices for wounds and bruises.




Grandfathers boyhood best friend was now a noted horse trainer. Together
they taught me how to break a horse, how to ride Indian style and white
mans style, with a saddle and bridle. Where he got the saddle I don’t know

but there was the dried up remains of a scalp tied to the saddle.

All this and much more I learned before I was ten. I remember when I was
ten my grandfather became a Christian. The missionaries talked to him and

he sent me to the missionary school.

You have probably heard of the Indian school at Carlisle run by the
government. The one they sent me to was run by Christian Missionaries.
The school was for Indian boys who showed promise of adapting to the
white mans ways, with courses that would be useful with the white world.
Some learned a trade, others were taught correct English, etiquette, Latin,
mathematics, Algebra and Geometry, Physics, Elementary Surveying,
Chemistry, some carpentry and U.S. History. Not to mentions sports. The

students grew most of the schools food so I learned some farming and

animal husbandry.




[ was usually among the winners in my class in boxing, wrestling, sprinting
and long distance running. Almost all the boys were excellent archers, but I

always took the prize.

The school had acquired an odd assortment of pistols and rifles, most of
them captured during the War Between the States. The students were
encouraged to practice marksmanship with these weapons. Also the large
variety gave us experience to decide which were the most accurate and

reliable.

We had all this and prayers before every meal and at bedtime, church on
Sundays with long sermons and no holidays except Christmas. 1 graduated
from the school after doing 12 years of study in less than 10 years. I’ve
since found out that the education I received was as good as any white boy

received back east, maybe better in some ways.

We were allowed to go home for two weeks a year if you had the money for
transportation. I got home twice in 10 years. The first time I was home
grandfather and I rode far and wide hunting and fishing. Some times we

rode all day just admiring Gods creation. At night we would sit by the
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campfire, looking at the stars, he pointing out the Indian constellations and
listening to the sounds of nature, the soft hoot of an owl, the yipping of a

coyote, the howl of a wolf.

He told me Indian tales and I telling him the finer points of Algebra or
Geometry. When I told him ‘the shortest distance between two points is a
straight line’, he thought for a moment then said, “Not always, sometimes
shorter to go around a swamp or go up stream to a ford,” or, “How do you

ride a straight line when hunting buffalo if the herd is moving?”

The last time I got home my grandfather had died. I hadn’t even heard about
his death until that summer when I got home. I grieved for him in the old
fashion, the Indian way. After I had done the proper things to honor his
spirit I went to the elders and told them I was tired of the white mans school
and I wanted to stay and hunt for my mother’s food. They told me that bad

things were happening to our brothers. They decided I must go back to

school.




Sometime after I went back to school, the village was raided, whether by

whites or a hostile tribe I never found out and I never saw any of my people

again.

[ finally graduated. The Missionaries tried to send the top two in the class to
college but some years they could only afford to send one. I was second in
my class but it was one of the lean years, there wasn’t any money to send me
to college. It really didn’t disappoint me. I had thought for a long time that I
would go back to my village and try to improve their living, but now there
was no village to go back to.

The school arranged for me to be interviewed by a lawyer who represented a

large Cattlemen’s Association.

The Missionaries couldn’t tell me much about the job. I rode into town with
the supply wagon. There was a certain tailor I was to find. He was a
staunch Christian and always helped out the Mission School, mostly by
giving one or two of us a good suit of clothes. After measuring me he sent
me with a note and a package to the town barber who gave me a white mans

hair cut. It felt funny not to have hair hanging down the back of my neck.

When the barber was through he told me to go take a bath in his back room.
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[t was quite a bit different —t'}’lé\y'lthe baths at the school. I finally figured out
how to adjust the faucets to get hot and cold water into the big barrel that
served as the tub. I’d never had a hot bath before. At school, in winter we
frequently had to break some ice to get a half bucket of water.

[ used the soap I found on a shelf, rinsed myself off and stepped into the tub,
sat down until my chin was just above water. So this was one of the white

mans way.

The barber shouted from the front of his shop “When you get out of the tub
there is a towel in the cupboard and,open the package.” I did just that. The
package contained two shirts, two pairs of jeans and four sets of underwear.
[ put on a set of underwear and a shirt and jeans. I put back on the pair of
worn out shoes from school. But other than the Indian style school shoes I
looked like a lot of white men. My face was a little darker than some but
lots of whites that worked out in the sun were just as dark. The barber told
me to put the extra clothes back in the box. Then he gave me a note and
directions to a cobblers shop.

When I found the shop the cobbler igave me six pairs of socks. He measured

my- feet then went into his store room and came back with shoes and two

pairs of cowboy boots. I could take my pick of two pair, boots or shoes. He




advised me to take two pair of boots. One pair I could keep for dressing up
and the other pair for work. One pair had beautiful hand done seams and
tooled leather uppers and fit perfectly. I’d never had a pair of boots in my
life, much less two pair, and one pair hand tooled. I thanked him profusely.
He said there was one more thing. He went to his display window and
brought out a good size leather valise. It was beautifully tooled leather. It
was large enough for all my new clothes and a lot more. The top opened and
had a weather flap that could be shut with a leather thong, two pouches on
each side that had individual straps with brass buckles. It had good sturdy
handles for carrying and was fitted with a detachable strap to shoulder carry.
It was all hand sewn and he told me that as long as I kept it oiled, especially
the seams it should be water proof for many years. I thanked him again
many times. All he said was “Go with God.”

With the fancy foots on I walked back to the tailor shop. It was past his
closing time but he was waiting for me. It was arranged that I would spend a
few days at his house. We walked the short way to his home. The bed room
he showed me was very neat and clean, curtains on the window, rugs on the
floor. The bed was big enough for two people. I wondered if I was going to

have to share it with someone. The tailor (that was also his name ‘Taylor’)

said after I settled in we’d go to some friends home for dinner. He hoped I




liked Mexican food. 1 didn’t really know any thing but Indian food and the
food at the Mission. We walked for about 15 minutes and turned into a lane
that looked different than the parts of the town that I had seen. The houses
seemed to have very neat front yards with the house behind a wall for
privacy. As we approached the house I could see it was a very large house
and very well maintained. We were greeted by a servant who Mr. Taylor
called Manuela. Mr. Taylor’s friend appeared immediately. He and Mr.
Taylor greeted each other with hand shaking and big hugs and smiles and an
exchange of pleasantries.

A woman in an apron came into the entry way. She greeted Mr. Taylor very
profusely, saying to me in broken English that she always did the cooking
herself when Mr. Taylor was coming. [ was introduced to Senofa and
Séner'rta Barcalona. They led us through two large rooms out onto a large
patio. As I passed through the house I could smell the food from the
kitchen. It smelled wonderful, but I wondered how Mexican food tasted.
I’d heard it was hot and spicy. They had four children, all girls, twins
eighteen and married. Their husbands had been on a cattle drive for almost

6 months, but were expected back tonight. They would probably be eating

with us if they got the cattle corralled. So we were waiting dinner for them.




[ didn’t know much about socializing so I just politely answered their
questions. They were very curious about my background. rYes, [ was half
Indian, I was just about twenty. My people didn’t have a calendar for
months and days, only seasons.

No, I didn’t have a girl friend. In fact I hadn’t even talked to girls, only
other Indian children before I was sent to the Mission school. .‘No, we boys
were not mistreated at school. The courses were hard but the teachers were
good teachers and made us learn our lessons. What courses did I like best?
Probably history, although I knew that some things in the books weren’t
true. There were other things that I enjoyed, although not a part of
curriculum.

Such As? Sharing in the work to keep the school up and going, herding the
cattle, mowing and stacking hay, tending the vegetable garden, outdoors
stuff. Also I was the Shamans assistant. Even though it was a Christian
school they allowed a Shaman to attend the sick and injured. His herbs were
quite good for coughs and eye infections. Also for stomach complaints and
g intestinal wsens, . He was very good at setting broken bones
and had to amputate a boy’s foot which had become badly infected.

Ordinarily a white doctor would be called for an amputation, but the school.

through inquiries, had found that the doctor lost a lot of patients when the




wounds became infected. So it was 50/50 whether to use white or Indian

medicine. Some times it was a matter of which one could get there first.

There was marksmanship. The school had an odd assortment of pistols and
rifles surrendered by confederates after the War Between the States.
Ammunition-was expensive so most of our shooting was at wild game for
the table. There were hardly any two weapons alike, so the variety gave us
experience in the advantages and disadvantages of different makes, their
accuracy and reliability. /How many boys attended? :Fhe lower grades had
maybe 1000 total, the high school had maybe as many as 600, probably less.
The boys dropped out as the lessons got harder or they got homesick. In the
upper grades they started the first year with about 250. Four years later
about 100 graduated. Only one or two went on to college. We have nothing
but the clothes on our back and perhaps a little money picked up when we
got our two week vacation. For instance I had worked in the cabinet shop
for a man who was building sleeping cars for M“%

[ asked if this was boring to them but they asked me to please continue.

All our machinery was old and decrepit. The sleeping car company had all

the latest equipment. It was a pleasure to work thee and they paid me too.

That’s where I got the money to go home the next summer. I still couldn’t
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have paid the fare except the sleeping car company arranged it that I was to
go in one of the sleeping cars as an Inspector. I did find a flaw in the
cabinetry. It was a joint that was dove tailed. The rocking of the train car
had worked the joint loose. I had forms to fill out daily to check on various
things. I filled out forms and recommended that the joints be dove tailed,
half lapped and clamp glued. I signed the form and under Title, I signed
[nspector.

When I got off the train I gave it to the porter and told him to be sure that it
got to the sleeping car company. He said “Yes Sir, I’ll be sure.” I got a real
kick out of being called Sir.

On the trip home thee-was a real Inspector. I think he was a little upset that I
had found a flaw and he hadn’t. My being a Half-Breed Indian school boy
hadn’t helped matters either. We got into a fist fight and I knocked him out
with the second punch. He came to in a couple of minutes and there were no
problems for the rest of the trip.

A couple of months later a rep for the sleeping car company came to the
school to see me. I was called out of class to show him around most of the
school that he had time to see. He particularly wanted to see the cabinet
shop. There was a display of completed and incomplete projects. He was

amazed at the quality of work we turned out on the old equipment. About
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two months later a long train of dray wagons came to the school. They had

materials to start construction of a shop building and an engineeerg
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building. | Brick la_yers came and started laying the foundations. A swarm of
carpenters soon came and started the building: The draymen unloaded
bricks, lumber and machinery. The project took almost of year. It was
completed when a mill wright came and installed the machinery. While all
this building was going on, a separate building of brick was built and a
steam stationary engine was installed. All the machinery was run by belts
and pulleys powered by the steam engine.

The sleeping car company paid for all this. They wanted to hire trained
employees in the shops.

I was called out of class again one day. A man was in the office talking with
the Board of Directors. Looking at me with a big smile he said “All this
building was your fault.” He knew the railroads were going to start buying
his sleeping cars so he decided to get a head start. He offered me a job, right
then as the superintendent of his shops but I would have to quit school. I
needed time to think, so I told him I’d let him know within one week. Some
of the Board were aghast that I didn’t ;t;;fpat the chance. A week later I

turned him down. I simply didn’t want to be inside a factory for the rest of

my life.
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“Just then we heard horses in front of the house. I surmised that the husbands
of the twins had arrived. They excused them selves and went inside the
house: Maria excused her self saying she must greet her sons-in-law and
had a few things to do before dinner. But it would be a while because the
husbands would need to take baths as they had been out herding cattle for
almost 6 months.

That interested me. I asked what kind of cattle they had. Pedro answered
that is was sort of a mixed lot, mostly long horns that they had driven up
from Mexico and Texas. Even the scrawny ones brought a good price at the
railroad if they got some good feed and a little rest. The cattle drive was
very hard on animals, especially the horses that the vaqueros rode. They
changed horses three or four times a day and still they were near exhaustion
when they got back. The men were just as bad off, Especially if they had to
fight any damn Indians. He looked sort of startled when he realized what he
had said. He then apologized if I was insulted, but it was true that the
Indians on the trail ambushed many herds and killed and wounded many
cowboys. I told him I was only half Indian and could understand his
viewpoint. Mr. Taylor quickly changed the subject to how the town was

growing and that it was good for business.
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A servant came to the patio and very excitedly said something in Spanish to

Pedro. He jumped up and rushed out, barely excusing himself.

Mr. Taylor, who was fluent in Spanish,said that both men were wounded by
Indians, one apparently very badly. Pedro came back and called the servant,
telling her to go get the new doctor in town. Mr. Taylor told him that the
doctor was out of town. He knew this because the doctor had ordered a new
suit to go his sisters out of town wedding, and he had picked up the suit this
morning. He said he was late and was leaving immediately.

We could hear the two wives crying hysterically and the laments of the
servants. The only calm voice from inside the house was Maria’s. She was
issuing orders in Spanish to at least two servants. Pedro came back to the
patio and slumped into a chair lamenting that one of his sons-in-law would
surely die as he had an arrow sticking out of his stomach that couldn’t be
removed. The other one had an arrow wound in his thigh. They were
ambushed two days ago, the other Céwboys had broken off the arrow and
pushed it on through to the other side of his thigh. He was still bleeding and
In great pain.

Mr. Taylor told Pedro that I might be able to help as I had told him of

assisting the Shaman in my-village.
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Pedro said “Please do anything, anything that you can. "We went 16,'aa big
bedroom. The man that was gut shot was in a great deal of pain. He was so
far gone that he was barely breathing. The only thing I could do for him was
to help him die without pain. They had tried to ease his pain with tequila but
it kept leaking out of the arrow wound and the alcohol must be excruciating
to the raw flesh.

[ asked Pedro if he knew where to get some marijuana. Si-Si-Si. I know it
grows wild around here. Get me enough to make a big cigar. I asked Maria
“Do you have any opium? Si, the dentist gave me some pills when he pulled
a tooth.” “Get it for me.” She said that her son-in-law can’t take anything
by mouth as it will leak out and cause him more pain. Just get me the:pmm
if you want your son-in-law to die without pain and also bring some sewing
thread and some lard. Si-Si, it is right in the kitchen. She took off running
to the kitchen.

She came back just as Pedro came back with one half of a marijuana plant. I

rue BioossT Lo

cut off a couple of marijuana leaves, put 3 opium pills on aftatteaft and
rolled them all up together. I took the thread and wound it tightly around the
rolled up marijuana leaves. The wounded man was tightly bent, with his

knees drawn up from the pain in his belly. I wondered how he was

conscious. I told Maria to take down his pants and drawers. She did it as if
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she worked on wounded men all the time. I told her to separate the cheeks
as far as she could. I coated the cigar/and also smeared some around his
rectum. ,AS gently as I could I pushed the cigar up him rectum as far as £
coedd | Tf;en [ told Maria to hold the cheeks together and not to let the cigar
slide out.

[ asked where the other wounded man was and they took me to another
bedroom. The man was lying on the bed moaning with pain, his pant leg cut
clear to the crotch. He was still bleeding with a two days accumulation in
the pants and boot. While riding, the blood had run down his leg and into
his boot. The cowboys had done about the only thing they could, pushing
the arrow throu‘gh‘w the other side of his thigh.

the way he was bleeding it was a wonder he was still alive. The bleeding
had to be stopped. I called Maria, told her I needed some more of her opium
and some water, then a red hot poker, with another poker in the fire getting
red hot. Bring me the opium first. She brought me the opium pills and some
water. We gave the man two pills and enough water to wash them down. 1
had wrapped his wound in some torn sheets as tightly as I could and slowed
the flow of blood. I went to look at the other man and saw that although
dying, he was at peace. The opium and marijuana had done their work. I

e
told Pedro he should call a priest, lfe-had already done so. I went to the other
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man. The opium seemed to be working. I looked into his eyes, they were
quite dilated, but not as much as I’d like. I’d have to wait a bit. I told Maria
to be sure to get the poker red hot and to get a second one started and even a
third if they had one. The man drifted off just as Maria came in with the
first poker. I undid the sheeting exposing both wounds. I told Pedro and
two of his servants to hold him down in case he wasn’t clear out. The poker
seared his flesh horribly I had to put it into the wound at least an inch or so.
He moaned but didn’t struggle. I told Maria to take the poker back to the
fire and bring me the other one. She came with it and I applied it to the
~ wound on the other side of his thigh. By this time I was feeling like an
expert. I took the tip just over the surface where blood was seeping out. It
stopped almost completely. I went and looked at my other patient. He was
barely breathing, very shallow with long pauses between each ‘breath. His
wife was sitting in the corner with her rosary. He died peacefully, just
before dawn. The priest didn’t get there till about an hour later.

[’d been awake more than 24 hours and I was just about spent, but I had to
find some special herbs to make a poultice. If I didn’t, the leg wounds
would turn very bad. It might be too late already. I borrowed a horse from
Pedro and went out into the brush looking for the herbs. There were two

kinds, one worked better than the other, but if you could find them both
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fresh in the morning they worked better together than either one by itself. 1
filled up a saddle bag with herbs and went back to the house. I hadn’t been
able to find very much of one of the herbs, but I had plenty of the other one.
Before I left I had told Maria to get a pot of water boiling. It was bubbling
away on the stove when I got back. I took my knife and cut off all the leaves
of one plant, put them into the boiling water. I just wanted the stems of the
other plant but they had to be cut into one to two inch pieces. As I cut the
stems I put them in the water I told' Maria not to breath too much of the
steam. | asked Maria for as much clean cotton cloth as she had. She quickly
brought a big stack of white cotton bed sheets. She started to go and get
some more but I told her that she had brought plenty. The two herbs in the
water were giving off a pleasant odor, but it is nfot good to smell very long
because it will act like an aphrodisiac.

We went into another room and [ started ripping the sheets into long strips. I
asked Maria to fold the strips to make bandages about six inches square and
sew them so they didn’t unfold. That only took a few minutes. When she
finished I took the bandages and put them into the pot. The mixture had
gotten thick like molasses. After about five minutes Maria gave me a pair of

tongs. I fished around in the pot and brought out two of the bandages.
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The trick was to get them on the wounds still warm but not hot enough to
burn the skin. We had washed both wounds with tequila and so now we
waited a few minutes for the bandages to be cool enough. I put them onto
the wounds and then wrapped the leg with strips of bed sheeting.

The opium was starting to wear off and the patient was moaning a little
when the bandages were applied and bound with the sheeting.

[ told Maria to give him one more opium pill when he was awake enough to
drink water, but to be sure he could swallow it and not choke.

Next I told them to keep the bandages on his leg damp with the warm herb
brew, but to be careful they were not too hot. They could use the bandage
still in the pot to keep them warm and moist, placing new, warm, wet
bandages about every one half hour.

By this time I was worn out. I had to get some sleep

Pedro said something in Spanish to one of the servant women. She led me
down a long hallway with several doors to another part of the house. She
opened a door to a rather small but neat little bedroom. She didn’t speak

much English but gestured for me to sit on the bed.

You’re on your own now. Love and hugs Dolly
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John Leland, Jr.
40704 Robin Street
Fremont, CA 94538
(415) 656-1310
Words - 1937

How Diamondfield Jack Affected My Life

I first met Diamondfield Jack as a youngster of nine. I'm not
sure of the year, but it was probably before 1938. At that time

my parents were renting a small ground floor apartment in San

Francisco's Haight/Ashbury District. One evening just before
dinner the door bell rang. I pressed the buzzer button to allow
someone to open the front lobby door. I opened the door of our

apartment and looked down the long dark hallway to see who had

rung the bell.

I saw a figure coming towards me that I did not recognize. To a
nine year old boy all adults look large, but somehow this man was

"different". Adults would say he had an "aura".

The stranger asked for my father. I called Dad and when he came,

naturally, curious, I hung around the entry to listen.

At first my father did not appear to recognize the man, but after
a few words, ....a hearty hand shake, I heard "Won't you stay for

dinner, we're just about to sit down"? Later, Dad said "dinner

might have been the main reason for Jack's visit".




After seating Jack in the living room, Mom and Dad conversed
quietly in the kitchen for a few moments then I was told to set

another place for dinner.

I don't remember what we ate or much of the dinner conversation
but afterwards the talk turned to "guns and Nevada", which to me

were the "be all and the end all".

The general topics stick, but unfortunately most of the particu-
lars have vanished from memory with the exception that Jack was a
character indeed, larger than life, and down on his luck. He was

a legend in his own time.

One other time, I'm sure it was still before I was twelve, I'4d
guess it was three years after the first visit, he showed up at
dinner again. This time I remembered him immediately. Again
memory fails concerning the dinner conversation, but two things
do stand out. A long discourse about a machine he was
involved/investing in to make "seamless" ladies stockings, and a
monologue on the benefits to mind and body of exercises with
"Indian Clubs". He demonstrated the physical part with glass
"roughneck" milk bottles, to the consternation of my mother. He
tossed three or four around, swung his arms in big circles with
the bottles in both hands, tossed them to me and I tossed them
back. How we did this with the low ceiling and small space with-
out breaking any bottles or dishes is something I can't answer.

My (now) 99 year old mother still remembers that visit.



That is all I know or remember "first hand" about Diamondfield

Jack Davis.

He has been described as "nefarious" in at least one book. He
certainly did not appear that way to a young kid, many years
after the incidents that caused his notoriety. He has also been
described as garrulous and with a stammer. Garrulous implies
lots of talk about unimportant things. I would suggest that
different things are important or unimportant to different peo-
ple, so I would think loquacious might more accurately describe
him at the time I'm recalling. I also don't recollect any stam-

mer. Some have said he liked kids, he seemed to take a liking to

me, back then.

My Uncle "B" told me of a younger brother, Uncle "C", and Jack
going on more than one camping trip, and I remember visiting the
younger brother in San Francisco. He was a lifelong bachelor and
when I was a kid I walked over to his "Diggins" many times. It
was during the depression...times were tough and it was a pretty
spare place, but always neat. There were lots of good western
pictures on the walls, and mementos of ranch life, such as a
silver mounted horse bit, a lariat woven from horse tail hair and

a big broad blade knife with an ivory handle that hung by the

door.

He had a wood burning stove that always gave his place a nice
wood smoke smell. When he cooked his delicious red beans the

aroma always made me hungry even before I knocked at his door.

He did all his own cooking on the wood stove and baked too.




Sometimes he used a little folding camp oven and sometimes he
used a pretty good sized cast iron "Dutch Oven". I'd visit with

him and eat most of what was going to be his dinner and maybe the

next nights dinner too.

He would tell me lots of wonderful stories of camping, hunting,
fishing, riding, scrapes with bears, hooking a huge trout, some
confrontations with thieves, rustlers and Indians. Whether true
or I have embellished them in my memory, I'll never know for

sure. But I treasure the stories that Uncle "C" told, just as

they are.

He never called him "Diamondfield" Jack, but nmow I'm sure that

the "Jack" he referred to was really Diamondfield Jack Davis.

One story might have taken place in north eastern Nevada.

After quite a long hot ride Jack and my uncle "C" set up camp
beside a small stream and were bathing in the river when Jack
came out to find a half dozen Indians rummaging through their
grub bags. Jack always carried some kind of a weapon, and since
his pistol would get wet, he had a big "brushwacker" (knife) in a
special rig around his right calf. The Indians had gotten out
and unwrapped a side of bacon. Now a man stark naked and drip-
ping wet would seem at a distinct disadvantage, both psychologi-
cally and physically when confronted by half a dozen Indians bent
on (at least) getting your grub. Not Jack! With a shout of

"C....get your guns", he charged out of the stream bed and with a

motion that was almost too quick for the eye, drew the knife from




the sheath and threw it so hard that the blade went through the
side of bacon. Most of the Indians fled when Uncle "C" came up
with a cocked Colt in each hand. The Indian with the bacon was
too surprised and scared to move. Uncle "C" never told me if
Jack meant to kill the Indian or just claim his bacon. In view

of what happened next I think the knife in the bacon was a warn-

ing!

Jack walked over, very dignified, and yanked the blade from the
slab. 1In the process the Indian let go without a struggle but
they sure gave each other some "hard looks". He made sign lan-
guage with another Indian who seemed to be a "Chief". After some

pidgin English and more sign language it appeared they knew Jack

by reputation.

Some more talk and signing then Jack walked over to a fallen
tree, put the slab of bacon on it and handed the "Chief" his
knife (handle first) and indicated the chief was to cut it into
two pieces. After a big show of dividing it equally the chief

cut it in two. Jack then made a big show of trying to decide

which piece to take.

After the Indians left Jack told my uncle that the Indians were
not so much hungry, as wanting the fat off the bacon. The Indi-
ans didn't consider stealing the same way we do. There were only

two of us and a half slab would do just fine, whereas the band of

Indians would use up the fat very fast.




About a week or so later, some of the Indians came back and
brought them a little of the bacon with all the fat stripped out.
They had also "jerked" the bacon and in the process had added
some herbs. It was delicious, but of course very tough and dry.
Incidentally, that may be how Jerky got it's name. Some Indians
"jerked" rather than cut the meat from the fat. They also
brought some smoked trout... It wasn't so good. The Indians
seemed to expect something in return, probably some whiskey, but
Jack just played dumb for a while and finally gave them about a
quarter of a sack of Bull Durham along with some papers. They
seemed to think the papers were special and left, if not happy at
least satisfied, and wary of Jack... Wanting to keep on the

"good side" of him and, by association, with my Uncle "c".

When Uncle "C" died I inherited the big ivory handled knife that
always hung by his door. He never told me that it was Jack's
knife, and I'll never know for sure. During the Korean "con-
flict" I carried a "Trailmaker" manufactured by Marbles of Glad-
stone, Michigan, U.S.A. 1It's blade is almost 10" and it weighs
over a pound. I carried it in a sheath strapped to my right
calf and tucked into my flight boot in a rig as much like Jack's
as I could make it. I never came face to face with any North
Koreans or Communist Chinese and it's probably lucky for me. I

never got "Lightening Fast" on the draw or very accurate a throw.

Later in life I took one of my 13 year old sons and a young

nephew on a back pack fishing trip in the High Sierras. On the

second day we made camp and did some fishing. 1In late afternoon




four big kids (approximately 16 to 19 years old) made their camp

quite close to ours. There was no reason for them to camp so
close, but it's a free country. Soon, three of them came into
our camp and it was obvious they had been drinking. We were

fixing supper and they asked if we had any food to spare. They
didn't actually make a demand, but were more than a little bold,
with not a hint of "Please". 1I declined to give them anything at
all and cut short their effort to start a conversation, making it
plain they weren't welcome in our camp. They eyed my "Trailmak-
er" in its Korean War Rig and at the same time looked over our
camp, then went back to theirs. I watched them pretty carefully
and as night fell they didn't settle down but continued to drink
and become more and more rowdy. Pretty soon we could hear curses
and references to our canine ancestry. I got up and stood within
the circle of light from our camp fire at a time I felt the other
camp was watching. I quickly drew my "Trailmaker" and twirled it
around, flipping it end over end and catching it in either hand.
I had practiced this for hours at a time as a kid, but hadn't
done it for years. Of course, this was "just for show", but when
I threw it at a tree I think I heard some comments from the other
camp. The big knife made a very satisfying "thunk" just out of
the firelight. I walked over to the tree but couldn't find the
"Trailmaker". Glancing around, I couldn't see anything as it was
so dark, but of course, I didn't want the other camp to know. I

pretended to put the knife back in its rig, and told my son and

nephew to hit the sack.




The other camp was very quiet, I suspect they weren't used to

drinking.

The next morning at first light I got up to relieve myself. Of

course I went over to where the knife should be.

I found it stuck into a quaking aspen about 5 feet beyond where I

had been aiming.

Do you think Jack affected my life?




/Sft;ﬁu/J : W prisakes
Most whites don’t even attempt to pronounce my indian name, so they just
call me Smoke, partly because I can be as elusive and hard to catch as smoke

from a campfire. My mother was raped by 6 white men, so I am a half-

breed.

[ was still an infant when my mother’s father adopted me in the Indian
lr‘ﬂc'f/ A G

fashion.”As my father, he was responsible for my well being and training. 1

was his only grandchild so he lavished his love, time and attention on me.

As a young man he had been a might hunter. One of my earliest memories
is him teaching me how to make child sized bow and arrows, and how to
shoot them. As I got older he taught me how to ride a horse bare-back, how
to shoot arrows while at a gallop, how to make arrows for different types of
game. For fish and birds, squirrels and rabbits to bears and buffalo. . He
taught me about wild animals, read their sign and to track them, gather wild
herbs to rub on that make a hunter invisible to an animals sense of smell. He

showed me what herbs to use for curing illness, and which make salves and

poultices for wounds and bruises.
A V-
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¥mhpad best friend was##w a noted horse trainer. Together they taught
me how to break a herse, how to ride Indian style and white mans style, with
a saddle and bridle. Where he got the saddle I don’t know but there was the

dried up remains of a scalp tied to the saddle.

All this and much more I learned before I was ten. I remember when I was
ten my grandfather became a Christian. The missionaries talked to him and

he sent me to the missionary school.

You have probably heard of the Indian school at Carlisle run by the
government. The one they sent me to was run by Christian Missionaries.
The school was for Indian boys who showed promise of adapting to the
white mans ways, with courses that would be useful w#h the white world.
Some learned a trade, others were taught correct English, etiquette, Latin,
mathematics, Algebra and Geometry, Physics, Elementary Surveying,
Chemistry, some carpentry and U.S. History. Not to mentions sports. The

students grew most of the schools food so I learned some farming and

animal husbandry.




[ was usually among the winners in my class in boxing, wrestling, sprinting
and long distance running. Almost all the boys were excellent archers, but I

always took the prize.

The school had acquired an odd assortment of pistols and rifles, most of
SoARENDEIED A FTER

them -captured durimg the War Between the States. The students were

encouraged to practice marksmanship with these weapons. Also the large

variety gave us experience to decide which were the most accurate and

reliable.

We had all this and prayers before every meal and at bedtime, Church on
Sundays with long sermons and #o holidays except Christmas. I graduated

from the school after doing 12 years of study in less than 10 years. I’ve

since found out that the education I received was a good as any white/got %«

back east, maybe better in some ways.
We were allowed to go home for two weeks, If you had the money for
transportation. I got home twice in 10 years. The first time I was home

grandfather and I rode far and wide hunting and fishing. Some times we

rode all day just admiring Gods creation. At night we would sit by the

-
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campfire, looking at the stars/and listening to the sounds of nature, the soft

hoot of an owl, the yipping of a coyote, the howl of a wolf,

He told me Indian tales and I telling him the finer points of Algebra or
Geometry. When I told him ‘the shortest distance between two points is a
straight line’, he thought for a moment then said, “Not always, sometimes
shorter to go around a swamp or go up stream to a ford,” or, “How do you

ride a straight line when hunting buffalo if the herd is moving?”

The last time I got home my grandfather had died. I hadn’t even heard about
his death until that summer when I got home. I grieved for him in the old
fashion, the Indian way. After I had done the Eeeple things to honor his
spirit I went to the elders and told them I was tired of the white mans school
and I wanted to stay and hunt for my mother’s food. They told me that bad
things were happening to our brothers. They decided I must go back to

school,

Sometime after I went back to school, the village was raided, whether by
Mmpy p(omas
whites or a hostile tribe I never found out and I never saw any of the Feople

again.




[ finally graduated. The Missionaries tried to send the top two in the class to
college but some years they could only afford to send one. I was second in
my class but it was one of the lean years, there wasn’t any money to send me
to college. It really didn’t disappoint me. I had thought for a long time that I
would go back to my village and try to improve their living, but now there
was no village to go back to.

The school arranged for me to be interviewed by a lawyer who represented a
largeattlemans association.

CJ

Fhey couldn’t tell me much about the job. I rode into town with the supply
wagon. There was a certain tailor I was to find. He was a&gt\é;t;Ehristian
and always helped out the Mission School, mostly by giving one or two of
us a good suit of clothes. After measuring me he sent me with a note and a
package to the town barber who gave me a white mans hair cut. It felt funny
not to have hair hanging down the back of my neck. When the barber was

through he told me to go take a bath in his back room. It was quite a bit

different that the baths at the school. I finally figured out how to adjust the

faucets to get hot and cold water into the big barrel that served as the tub.

5




[’d never had a hot bath before. At school, in winter we frequently had to
break some ice to get a half bucket of water.

[ used the soap I found on a shelf, rinsed myself off and stepped into the tub,
sat down until my chin was just above water. So this was one of the white
mans way.

The barber shouted from the front of his shop “When you get 0L11£/’t1h’eyre 1S a
towel in the cupboard;” and, ¢ open the package". [ did just that. The
package contained two shirts, two pairs of jeans and four sets of underwear.
[ put on a set of underwear and a shirt and jeans. I put back on the pair of
worn out shoes from school. But other than the Indian style school shoes I
looked like a lot of white men. My face was a little darker £l(1a’z some but lots
of whites that worked out in the sun were just as dark. The barber told me to
put the extra clothes back in the box. Then he gave me a note and directions
to a cobblers shop.

When I found the shop the cobbler/'gave me six pairs of socks. He measuared
my feet then went into his store room and came back with shoes and two

pairs of cowboy boots. I could take my pick of two pair, boots or shoes. He

advised me to take two pair of boots. One pair I could keep for dressing up

and the other pair for work. One pair had beautiful hand done seams and




tooled leather uppers and fit perfectly. I’d never had a pair of boots in my

life, much less two pair, one pair hand tooled.-
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Rl ~~ - John Leland Sgarks, Jr.
A b 5654 Impatiens Comn.

: Fremont, CA 94538-5227

&k\g YL (510) 656'1310

What do you get if you take one fifth wheel trailer, one tow vehicle, stir in 89
days, shake it (sometimes violently) for 11,004 miles and serve it along with road
maps of eight states and 3 Canadian Provinces. WE got the most memorable
vacation of our collective 142 years, and I'll bet that you could too!

Just to give you a sample of one day. We had completed the “Alaska Loop”,
Tok, Fairbanks, Mt. McKinley, Anchorage (with spur trips to the Arctic Circle,
Kenai, Homer and Seward). While camping near Glenallen, Alaska we decided to
leave the trailer in the campground and take a day excursion boat out of Valdez.
It was one of the “very best days” of the entire trip.

We got up at 4:15 AM, packed a lunch and thermos of coffee, jumped in the
truck and took off for Valdez. After just a few miles of beautiful morning
scenery, when coming over a rise we saw three big elk within a hundred feet of
the road. I slowed down for the “photo opportunity” but by the time I got the
camcorder set we were past them. They sure were grand looking and graceful
animals.

It was a beautiful early morning, the road to Valdez follows meandering streams
and goes over a few low passes with views of adjacent valleys, meadows and
snow capped mountains that defy description by my limited vocabulary. By and
by we came to a steeper and longer grade which led up to Thompson Pass.

Topping Thompson Pass and looking (probably) south or southeast, across an
immense valley are enormous snowfields or perhaps glaciers. On that particular s
morning a few scattered wispy clouds played over and around the mountaintops y PP
and down into the valley. The snow@ed/‘looked undulating and soft rivaling the

fluffy clouds. The sun, by now shining brightly made the whole prospect a thing

of fairy tale beauty. We found a wide place to park, uncorked our thermos and

enjoyed the magnificent vista across the valley.

After our coffee stop we descended into a narrow valley. The road was bordered
on one side by sheer cliffs, probably at least a hundred feet straight up, the cliffs
broken here and there by spectacular waterfalls. Some appeared to be trying to
leap across the road, the sunlight playing beautifully on the stream and spray as




it tumbled, splashed and cascaded downward. There was a good-sized stream
running along on the other side of the road, with the same type of sheer cliffs,
and more beautiful waterfalls on the far side of it. We couldn't tarry, fearing we
might miss the boat at Valdez.

We left the dock right on schedule and proceeded toward the Valdez narrows.
On the way we saw some sea otters, doing their rolling over and over act, to
keep their fur dry, also a couple of seals. The captain turned us into Sawmill
Bay. The water changed to the beautiful clear, clean medium that is typical of
quiet water in that vicinity. At one place the captain edged the bow of the boat
so close to a sheer cliff that people were reaching out trying to touch the rock.
Close by is a beach that was half covered with seals, also we saw innumerable
colorful puffins and an eagles nest.

Just before lunch we headed toward Columbia Glacier. As we progressed
through Prince William Sound it began to get cold and the water became littered
with ice. Some ice was small as ice cubes and some larger than an 18 - wheel
truck and trailer. The captain cut back on the engines and we could hear and
feel the bump and scrape of ice against the hull as we nudged the medium sized
chunks. The larger chunks of ice frequently have a beautiful blue — green tint.

GRoWep
After our exciting voyage through the ice we made land fall at Qi[(?wéii Island,
where we had a great, ‘@II you can eat”, buffet lunch. Re-embarking we took a
tour around a couple of Bays. The water in the small harbors and inlets is a
beautiful color, clear and clean to the bottom. We were next headed for Bligh
Reef where the Exxon Valdez met with tragedy in 1989, At this point the skipper
received word by radio that a pod of Orca whales were in the vicinity.
Approaching them we could see their spouts. As we got closer the engines were
slowed, and we kept pace with them for about twenty minutes. What fun it was
to watch those beautiful, graceful creatures.

This is just one memorable day of the 89 fantastic days of our trip through
several-states and three Canadian-provinces. A5 ALASK A Seviv ollre~
NATe> Pro B eatnvse Ceovue s :
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DIANE
I am a die...like in a pair of dice. I want to tell you about
my experiences.
My first recollections were in the plastic condition. Soon I
was poured into a mold. As the plastic cooled I heard voices

talking about the company Christmas party. It was starting soon.
The worker processing my mold said, "I'll be along.'" Some one
else said, "Joe, open the mold so they can cool, they'll still

be here after Christmas, and the party won't wait..COME ON!"

Air blasts ejected me and the other dice. We were all tumbled
out onto a lightly padded table. Little did I know that tumb-
ling on a lightly padded table was my destiny. As I lay on

that surface I could hear, or rather feel voices in the dist-

ance, singing Christmas carols. The feeling were wonderful.

The gathering was jovial, great feelings of goodwill came from
the party. I'm blind, so my perceptions are from feelings. As
the party progressed there was such an abundance of fellowship
and generosity that it washed over me in waves. In cooling I
absorbed it. A miracle was happening. Because I came into be-

ing on Christmas Eve I would forever have feelings.

The singing and merry making reached a peak. A shout of "Santa's
here," then a chorus of "Merry Christmas Santa" from the assembly.
Santa shouted "Ho! Ho! Ho!" and dropped a sack of presents. I

could feel the good wishes, joy and happiness emanating from the
group of merry makers. It made me so happy I wanted to dance,

hop, skip and jump. If only I could. But that's an impossibility.

(1)




Happily I drifted off to sleep, and dreamed. Why was I given

such a gift without any other power? Can I DO nothing on my own?

I awoke! The party was over and everyone was gone. still

drowsy, I mulled over a remark I'd heard, '"Leopards can't

change their spots. I pondered, could I change my spots?

Could 17

Just then all the church bells in town began to ring. It was
midnight. Christmas! The bells told of a miracle 2000 years
ago. They also made me feel wonderful, empowering me to do
something...to change my spots? All Christmas I practiced
trying to change my spots. Whenever the watchman, with keys

jingling, came by, or church bells rang, I became more sure of
myself. Next morning I felt positive that I could change my

spots...IF the bells rang. But how could I tell for sure?

When the factory opened, the worker placed us all so that our
3 spot showed. We were all arranged in a box with many other
dice. Just before he put the 1id on, a phone rang. I gave a
big effort and was rewarded by the worker mumbling to himself,
"How did I mess up, one die is showing a 2 spot." He closed

the 1id, it was dark, I slept.

I awoke when someone dropped the box. I could hear a voice
outside..."Sign here." I had arrived at my new home, Cactus
Pete's Hotel and Casino in Jackpot, Nevada. The casino was
still under construction. My box was moved to a warehouse.

I remember the clerk yelling, "Put those dice in section
'¢'...Craps, not 'D'...dice, 0.K?" No answer. There I sat

not knowing where I was.

One day there was much activity. Fork 1lift trucks came and

moved the heavy stuff. Whole gangs came in and moved gaming

(2)




tables, chairs, stools, slot machines, office furniture, type-

writers, boxes of glassware, and on and on.

For a week the clerk checked lists as the movers took items

from the warehouse. I'd get excited when someone would ask
"Where's the dice?" But no one ever picked up the box I was
in. I could tell that there were other boxes left on the
shelves, spare parts and such. I suppose I was hidden behind

something.

One afternoon the clerk said, "Everything is checked out except
the dice. I guess they went over with the crap tables. I've
never heard of a midnight grand opening of a casino without any

' The doors slammed shut and the cars drove away. Every

dice.'
thing was quiet. I went to sleep. In a few hours it would be
June 1, 1956 and the town of Jackpot, Nevada was about to be

put on the map.

Suddenly a car was coming fast, squealing tires as the brakes
were applied...hard! The doors opened, people talked excitedly,

"I1f we don't find those dice and get them over to the casino

before midnight, we'll both be looking for new iobs. That's
less than 15 minutes. You're the only one this side of Wells
who might possibly know where there are some dice. What made
me think things were going smoothly. Hell! I might lose the
license if I try to open without craps. 1'1l be the butt of

every jokester in the whole state."

All this time the warehouseman searched frantically. The boss
shouted, "FIND THOSE DICE! We're about 8 minutes from our last
paychecks." After much frenzied searching the warehouseman
grabbed my box and ran, shouting "I found them!" Doors slammed.

The car shot forward.

(3)




The warehouseman, out of breath said "Somebody moved 'em. They
were in 'D' section...not 'C' for craps." The boss said "I
knew if anyone could find them you could. Open the box and
stuff your pockets, I'll get the car as close as I can, then
you'll have to push your way through the crowd that's waiting

outside. Get 'em to the tables before midnight!"

He got through the crowd, rushed to the crap tables, tossed a
half dozen plastic wrapped packets to each stickman. My stick-
man ripped the wrappers, and tossed a dozen of us onto the table,
just as the P.A. system announced, "0.K. people, it's midnight,
June 1, 1956. Our gaming license is now valid, so OPEN THE
DOORS."

Pandemonium reigned, the crowd surged into the casino, the

P.A. system boomed, "WELCOME TO CACTUS PETE'S AND GOOD LUCK!"

A hand closed around a pair of us. The man blew his hot boozy
breath on us, rattled us together violently, and then threw us
the length of the table. I hit the bumper, hard, and bounded
back, coming to rest with my 1 spot showing. The shooter

threw a 7.

Such was my introduction to craps...a TERRIBLE shock. 1I'd

really led a sheltered existence, but soon it was fun. Some
people were gentle, others squeezed, some hands were cold,
some warm, even hot, others sweaty. Some whispered prayers.
It was all so new to me, so exciting, that I never thought

of changing my spots.

Suddenly, I heard a beautiful voice say, "Here is your cock-
tail sir." Her voice was so gentle it caught my attention...
or was it the tinkle of ice in glasses? I fell in love

right then.

(4)




The hand that held me opened, and I bounded down the table.
Just as I hit the bumper I heard the tinkle of ice, I gave a
big effort...the stickman said, "8..No! 9!" 1I'd done it!

I'd changed my spots in public.

Certain numbers are easy, others I seldom attempt. I would

need lots of bells ringing to even try a 6. Play continued,

it got easier, especially if the slots payed off a big one...

oh those bells, and the clink of coins. Between the slot bells,
the clink of coins (coins were real silver then) and the tinkle
of ice in cocktails, I didn't have many real problems, except

6...never 6.

Often I heard "Her" voice when she brought drinks. She was so

calm when everyone else was frantic.

A shooter needed a 4. I tried, but the other die was 'dumb'
and up came 7. The shooter got angry, grabbed us away from the
stickman and threw us. I bounced and landed on the floor. |
got kicked, stepped on, kicked again and again. I wound up

in a little niche under a slot machine.

I was just across the aisle from the crap tables, hidden, from
June 1, 1956 until December 24. All I could do was practice
changing, and listen to the employees talk. I learned that my
favorite cocktail waitress' name was Diane, Di for short, al-
most the same as mine. She was married and soon to have a baby.

Her husband had left her and she needed money badly.

Tomorrow was Christmas. Whenever Jingle Bells played on the
P.A. system I'd get so excited my spots changed like '42" (that's

the total spots on a pair of dice, and sort of a saying amongst

us .
Suddenly the slot above me cut loose. This slot had always been
a quiet one. You know the type...never pays much, just sits
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there making money for the house. Well...for some reason it

decided to geve back ALL the profits. When the repairman

came, he found me in my hiding place. He tossed me across the
aisle to a stickman who put me on the table. I could hardly
wait to get into play. Jingle Bells on the P.A. system, slots

paying off, coins jingling and Diane's icy cocktails.

Suddenly I was back in play, paired with a real pro. The

shooter was a nice lady and trying hard to make her point.

Then I heard Di's voice, it was always so nice, and her drinks
always sounded so good, maybe extra ice, "tinkle, tinkle, tinkle."
She brought drinks for several people, one was a gruff old guy.

He surprised everyone when he tossed a $100 chip onto her serving
tray and said "Here's a tip for you little cocktail lady." Well

the chip bounced off her tray and onto the crap table, rolled

and landed on, you guessed it, double 6...Box Cars.
The stickman asked "your bet Diane?" She, half stunned, nodded
yes. The pit boss saw it all, shrugged and said, "She's not

supposed to bet while working, but {t's Christmas..0.K."

You can imagine how my pard and I felt. We just had to make

her a winner. 1I've told you that 6 is the most difficult trans-
formation. I'd need all the help I could get, but I must try!
The shooter threw us to the far end of the table. Suddenly,

in mid air there was a smell of smoke, and the fire alarm
sounded. IT WAS A 10 inch gong and I had never heard such a
loud bell, but it did the trick. I changed to a 6. The stick-

man announced "Box Cars, pays 32 to 1."

The smoke was just a burned piece of toast in the kitchen. Was

this another Christmas miraecle?
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Things happened fast. The gruff old guy grabbed us dice and
disappeared into the crowd. I was so exhausted I went into

a deep sleep.

When I awoke I heard Diane talking quietly to a baby. It was
her baby and it was several months old. The fire alarm and
the excitement of winning all that money had caused the baby
to come early. The gruff old guy only wanted the dice for
souvenirs. When he found out that Diane had the baby on

Christmas, he gave us to the baby for a Christmas present.

The best part is, I sit on a shelf in the baby's room. When-
ever she wiggles the bells on her crib go jingle, jingle,
jingle. I can hardly wait 'til she learns to walk, and mother

Diane puts Mischief Bells on baby Di's shoes.

Maybe when she grows up she'll have:

"Rings on her fingers and bells on her toes"”

And she'll carry me wherever she goes.

(7)
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was poured into a mold. As the plastic cooled I heard voices

talking about the company Christmas party. It was starting soon.
The worker processing my mold said, "I'll be along." Some one
else said, "Joe, open the mold so they can cool, they'll still

be here after Christmas, and the party won't wait..COME ON!"

Air blasts ejected me and the other dice. We were all tumbled
out onto a lightly padded table. Little did I know that tumb-
ling on a lightly padded table was my destiny. As I lay on

that surface I could hear, or rather feelfvoices in the dist-

ance, singing Christmas carols. The feeling were wonderful.

The gathering was jovial, great feelings of goodwill came from
the party. I'm blind, so my perceptions are from feelings. As
the party progressed there was such an abundance of fellowship
and generosity that it washed over me in waves. In cooling I
absorbed it. A miracle was happening. Because I came into be-

ing on Christmas Eve I would forever have feelings.

The singing and merry making reached a peak. A shout of "Santa's
here," then a chorus of "Merry Christmas Santa" from the assembly.
Santa shouted "Ho! Ho! Ho!" and dropped a sack of presents. I

could feel the good wishes, joy and happiness emanating from the
group of merry makers. It made me so happy I wanted to dance,

hop, skip and jump. If only I could. But that's an impossibility.
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Happily I drifted off to sleep, and dreamed. Why was I given

such a gift without any other power? Can I DO nothing on my own?

I awoke! The party was over and everyone was gone. Sti1l1

drowsy, I mulled over a remark I'd heard, "Leopards can't

change their spots." I pondered, could I change my spots?
Could I7?

Just then all the church bells in town began to ring. It was
midnight. Christmas! The bells told of a miracle 2000 years
ago. They also made me feel wonderful, empowering me to do
something...to change my spots? All Christmas I practiced
trying to change my spots. Whenever the watchman, with keys

jingling, came by, or church bells rang, I became more sure of
myself. Next morning I felt positive that I could change my

spots...IF the bells rang. But how could I tell for sure?

When the factory opened, the worker placed us all so that our
3 spot showed. We were all arranged in a box with many other
dice. Just before he put the 1lid on, a phone rang. I gave a
big effort and was rewarded by the worker mumbling to himself,
"How did I mess up, one die is showing a 2 spot." He closed

the 1id, it was dark, I slept.

I awoke when someone dropped the box. I could hear a voice
outside..."Sign here." I had arrived at my new home, Cactus
Pete's Hotel and Casino in Jackpot, Nevada. The casino was
still under construction. My box was moved to a warehouse.

I remember the clerk yelling, "Put those dice in section
'¢c'...Craps, not 'D'...dice, 0.K?" No answer. There I sat

not knowing where I was.

One day there was much activity. Fork 1ift trucks came and

moved the heavy stuff. Whole gangs came in and moved gaming
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tables, chairs, stools, slot machines, office furniture, type-

writers, boxes of glassware, and on and on.

For a week the clerk checked lists as the movers took items
from the warehouse. I'd get excited when someone would ask
"Where's the dice?" But no one ever picked up the box I was
in. I could tell that there were other boxes left on the
shelves, spare parts and such. I suppose I was hidden behind

something.

One afternoon the clerk said, "Everything is checked out except
the dice. I guess they went over with the crap tables. 1I've
never heard of a midnight grand opening of a casino without any

dice."

The doors slammed shut and the cars drove away. Every
thing was quiet. I went to sleep. In a few hours it would be
June 1, 1956 and the town of Jackpot, Nevada was about to be

put on the map.

Suddenly a car was coming fast, squealing tires as the brakes
were applied...hard! The doors opened, people talked excitedly,
"If we don't find those dice and get them over to the casino

before midnight, we'll both be looking for new jobs. That's

less than 15 minutes. You're the only one this side of Wells
who might possibly know where there are some dice. What made
me think things were going smoothly. Hell! I might lose the
license if I try to open without craps. I'll be the butt of

every jokester in the whole state."

All this time the warehouseman searched frantically. The boss
shouted, "FIND THOSE DICE! We're about 8 minutes from our last

' After much frenzied searching the warehouseman

paychecks.'
grabbed my box and ran, shouting "I found them!" Doors slammed.

The car shot forward.
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The warehouseman, out of breath said "Somebody moved 'em. They
were in 'D' section...not 'C' for craps." The boss said "I
knew if anyone could find them you could. Open the box and
stuff your pockets, I'll get the car as close as I can, then
you'll have to push your way through the crowd that's waiting

outside. Get 'em to the tables before midnight!"

He got through the crowd, rushed to the crap tables, tossed a
half dozen plastic wrapped packets to each stickman. My stick-
man ripped the wrappers, and tossed a dozen of us onto the table,
just as the P.A. system announced, "0.K. people, it's midnight,
June 1, 1956. Our gaming license is now valid, so OPEN THE

DOORS."

Pandemonium reigned, the crowd surged into the casino, the

P.A. system boomed, "WELCOME TO CACTUS PETE'S AND GOOD LUCK!"

A hand closed around a pair of us. The man blew his hot boozy
breath on us, rattled us together violently, and then threw us
the length of the table. I hit the bumper, hard, and bounded

back, coming to rest with my 1 spot showing. The shooter

threw a 7.

Such was my introduction to craps...a TERRIBLE shock. I'd

really led a sheltered existence, but soon it was fun. Some
people were gentle, others squeezed, some hands were cold,
some warm, even hot, others sweaty. Some whispered prayers.
It was all so new to me, so exciting, that I never thought

of changing my spots.

Suddenly, I heard a beautiful voice say, "Here is your cock-
tail sir." Her voice was so gentle it caught my attention...
or was it the tinkle of ice in glasses? I fell in love

right then.
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The hand that held me opened, and I bounded down the table.
Just as I hit the bumper I heard the tinkle of ice, I gave a
big effort...the stickman said, "8..No! 9!" 1I'd done it!

I'd changed my spots in public.

Certain numbers are easy, others I seldom attempt. I would

need lots of bells ringing to even try a 6. Play continued,

it got easier, especially if the slots payed off a big one...

oh those bells, and the clink of coins. Between the slot bells,
the clink of coins (coins were real silver then) and the tinkle
of ice in cocktails, I didn't have many real problems, except

6...never 6.

Often I heard "Her" voice when she brought drinks. She was so

calm when everyone else was frantic.

A shooter needed a 4. I tried, but the other die was 'dumb'
and up came 7. The shooter got angry, grabbed us away from the
stickman and threw us. I bounced and landed on the floor. I
got kicked, stepped on, kicked again and again. I wound up

in a little niche under a slot machine.

I was just across the aisle from the crap tables, hidden, from
June 1, 1956 until December 24. All I could do was practice
changing, and listen to the employees talk. I learned that my
favorite cocktail waitress' name was Diane, Di for short, al-
most the same as mine. She was married and soon to have a baby.

Her husband had left her and she needed money badly.

Tomorrow was Christmas. Whenever Jingle Bells played on the
P.A. system I'd get so excited my spots changed like '42' (that's

the total spots on a pair of dice, and sort of a saying amongst

us.)
Suddenly the slot above me cut loose. This slot had always been
a quiet one. You know the type...never pays much, just sits

(5)




there making money for the house. Well...for some reason it

decided to geve back ALL the profits. When the repairman
came, he found me in my hiding place. He tossed me across the
aisle to a stickman who put me on the table. I could hardly
wait to get into play. Jingle Bells on the P.A. systen, slots

paying off, coins jingling and Diane's icy cocktails.

Suddenly I was back in play, paired with a real pro. The

shooter was a nice lady and trying hard to make her point.

Then I heard Di's voice, it was always so nice, and her drinks
always sounded so good, maybe extra ice, "tinkle, tinkle, tinkle."
She brought drinks for several people, one was a gruff old guy.

He surprised everyone when he tossed a $100 chip onto her serving
tray and said "Here's a tip for you little cocktail lady." Well

the chip bounced off her tray and onto the crap table, rolled

and landed on, you guessed it, double 6...Box Cars.
The stickman asked "your bet Diane?" She, half stunned, nodded
yes. The pit boss saw it all, shrugged and said, "She's not

supposed to bet while working, but it's Christmas..0.K."

You can imagine how my pard and I felt. We just had to make

her a winner. I've told you that 6 is the most difficult trans-
formation. 1I'd need all the help I could get, but I must try!
The shooter threw us to the far end of the table. Suddenly,

in mid air there was a smell of smoke, and the fire alarm
sounded. IT WAS A 10 inch gong and I had never heard such a
loud bell, but it did the trick. I changed to a 6. The stick-

man announced "Box Cars, pays 32 to 1."

The smoke was just a burned piece of toast in the kitchen. Was

this another Christmas miracle?
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Things happened fast. The gruff old guy grabbed us dice and
disappeared into the crowd. I was so exhausted I went into

a deep sleep.

When I awoke I heard Diane talking quietly to a baby. It was
her baby and it was several months old. The fire alarm and
the excitement of winning all that money had caused the baby
to come early. The gruff old guy only wanted the dice for
souvenirs. When he found out that Diane had the baby on

Christmas, he gave us to the baby for a Christmas present.

The best part is, I sit on a shelf in the baby's room. When-
ever she wiggles the bells on her crib go jingle, jingle,
jingle. I can hardly wait 'til she learns to walk, and mother
Diane puts Mischief Bells on baby Di's shoes.

Maybe when she grows up she'll have:

"Rings on her fingers and bells on her toes"

And she'll carry me wherever she goes.
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was poured into a mold. As the plastic cooled I heard voices
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The worker processing my mold said, "I'll be along." Some one
else said, "Joe, open the mold so they can cool, they'll still

be here after Christmas, and the party won't wait..COME ON!"

Air blasts ejected me and the other dice. We were all tumbled
out onto a lightly padded table. Little did I know that tumb-
ling on a lightly padded table was my destiny. As I lay on

that surface I could hear, or rather feel)voices in the dist-

ance, singing Christmas carols. The feeling were wonderful.

The gathering was jovial, great feelings of goodwill came from
the party. I'm blind, so my perceptions are from feelings. As
the party progressed there was such an abundance of fellowship
and generosity that it washed over me in waves. In cooling I

absorbed it. A miracle was happening. Because I came into be-

ing on Christmas Eve I would forever have feelings.

The singing and merry making reached a peak. A shout of "Santa's

here," then a chorus of "Merry Christmas Santa" from the assembly.
Santa shouted "Ho! Ho! Ho!" and dropped a sack of presents. I
could feel the good wishes, joy and happiness emanating from the
group of merry makers. It made me so happy I wanted to dance,

hop, skip and jump. If only I could. But that's an impossibility.
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Happily I drifted off to sleep, and dreamed. Why was I given

such a gift without any other power? Can I DO nothing on my own?

I awoke! The party was over and everyone was gone. Still

drowsy, I mulled over a remark I'd heard, "Leopards can't

change their spots.' I pondered, could I change my spots?

Could 17

Just then all the church bells in town began to ring. It was
midnight. Christmas! The bells told of a miracle 2000 years
ago. They also made me feel wonderful, empowering me to do
something...to change my spots? All Christmas I practiced
trying to change my spots. Whenever the watchman, with keys

jingling, came by, or church bells rang, I became more sure of
myself. Next morning I felt positive that I could change my

spots...IF the bells rang. But how could I tell for sure?

When the factory opened, the worker placed us all so that our
3 spot showed. We were all arranged in a box with many other
dice. Just before he put the 1lid on, a phone rang. I gave a
big effort and was rewarded by the worker mumbling to himself,
"How did I mess up, one die is showing a 2 spot." He closed

the 1id, it was dark, I slept.

I awoke when someone dropped the box. I could hear a voice

' I had arrived at my new home, Cactus

outside..."Sign here.'
Pete's Hotel and Casino in Jackpot, Nevada. The casino was
still under construction. My box was moved to a warehouse.
I remember the clerk yelling, "Put those dice in section

'¢'...Craps, not 'D'...dice, 0.K?" No answer. There I sat

not knowing where I was.

One day there was much activity. Fork lift trucks came and

moved the heavy stuff. Whole gangs came in and moved gaming
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tables, chairs, stools, slot machines, office furniture, type-

writers, boxes of glassware, and on and on.

For a week the clerk checked lists as the movers took items

from the warehouse. I'd get excited when someone would ask
"Where's the dice?" But no one ever picked up the box I was
in. I could tell that there were other boxes left on the
shelves, spare parts and such. I suppose I was hidden behind

something.

One afternoon the clerk said, "Everything is checked out except
the dice. I guess they went over with the crap tables. I've
never heard of a midnight grand opening of a casino without any

dice. The doors slammed shut and the cars drove away. Every
thing was quiet. I went to sleep. In a few hours it would be
June 1, 1956 and the town of Jackpot, Nevada was about to be

put on the map.

Suddenly a car was coming fast, squealing tires as the brakes
were applied...hard! The doors opened, people talked excitedly,
"If we don't find those dice and get them over to the casino
before midnight, we'll both be looking for new jobs. That's
less than 15 minutes. You're the only one this side of Wells
who might possibly know where there are some dice. What made

me think things were going smoothly. Hell! I might lose the
license if I try to open without craps. I'11l be the butt of

every jokester in the whole state."

All this time the warehouseman searched frantically. The boss
shouted, "FIND THOSE DICE! We're about 8 minutes from our last
paychecks." After much frenzied searching the warehouseman
grabbed my box and ran, shouting "I found them!" Doors slammed.

The car shot forward.
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The warehouseman, out of breath said "Somebody moved 'em. They
were in 'D' section...not 'C' for craps." The boss said "I
knew if anyone could find them you could. Open the box and
stuff your pockets, I'll get the car as close as I can, then
you'll have to push your way through the crowd that's waiting

outside. Get 'em to the tables before midnight!"

He got through the crowd, rushed to the crap tables, tossed a
half dozen plastic wrapped packets to each stickman. My stick-
man ripped the wrappers, and tossed a dozen of us onto the table,
just as the P.A. system announced, "0.K. people, it's midnight,
June 1, 1956. Our gaming license is now valid, so OPEN THE

DOORS."

Pandemonium reigned, the crowd surged into the casino, the

P.A. system boomed, "WELCOME TO CACTUS PETE'S AND GOOD LUCK!"

A hand closed around a pair of us. The man blew his hot boozy
breath on us, rattled us together violently, and then threw us
the length of the table. I hit the bumper, hard, and bounded
back, coming to rest with my 1 spot showing. The shooter

threw a 7.

Such was my introduction to craps...a TERRIBLE shock. 1'd

really led a sheltered existence, but soon it was fun. Some
people were gentle, others squeezed, some hands were cold,
some warm, even hot, others sweaty. Some whispered prayers.
It was all so new to me, so exciting, that I never thought

of changing my spots.

Suddenly, I heard a beautiful voice say, "Here is your cock-

!

ERil piz." Her voice was so gentle it caught my attention...
or was it the tinkle of ice in glasses? 1 fell in love

right then.
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The hand that held me opened, and I bounded down the table.
Just as I hit the bumper I heard the tinkle of ice, I gave a
big effort...the stickman said, "8..No! 9!" 1I'd done it!

I1'd changed my spots in public.

Certain numbers are easy, others I seldom attempt. I would

need lots of bells ringing to even try a 6. Play continued,

it got easier, especially if the slots payed off a big one...

oh those bells, and the clink of coins. Between the slot bells,
the clink of coins (coins were real silver then) and the tinkle
of ice in cocktails, I didn't have many real problems, except

.. .D8VEE b.

Often I heard "Her" voice when she brought drinks. ©She was so

calm when everyone else was frantic.

A shooter needed a 4. I tried, but the other die was 'dumb'
and up came 7. The shooter got angry, grabbed us away from the
stickman and threw us. I bounced and landed on the floor. I
got kicked, stepped on, kicked again and again. I wound up

in a little niche under a slot machine.

I was just across the aisle from the crap tables, hidden, from
June 1, 1956 until December 24. All I could do was practice
changing, and listen to the employees talk. I learned that my
favorite cocktail waitress' name was Diane, Di for short, al-
most the same as mine. She was married and soon to have a baby.

Her husband had left her and she needed money badly.

Tomorrow was Christmas. Whenever Jingle Bells played on the
P.A. system 1'd get so excited my spots changed like '42' (that's
the total spots on a pair of dice, and sort of a saying amongst

e

Suddenly the slot above me cut loose. This slot had always been

a quiet one. You know the type...never pays much, just sits




there making money for the house. Well...for some reason it

decided to geve back ALL the profits. When the repairman
came, he found me in my hiding place. He tossed me across the
aisle to a stickman who put me on the table. I could hardly
wait to get into play. Jingle Bells on the P.A. system, slots

paying off, coins jingling and Diane's icy cocktails.

Suddenly I was back in play, paired with a real pro. The

shooter was a nice lady and trying hard to make her point.

Then I heard Di's voice, it was always so nice, and her drinks
always sounded so good, maybe extra ice, "tinkle, tinkle, tinkle."
She brought drinks for several people, one was a gruff old guy.

He surprised everyone when he tossed a $100 chip onto her serving
tray and said "Here's a tip for you little cocktail lady." Well

the chip bounced off her tray and onto the crap table, rolled

and landed on, you guessed it, double 6...Box Cars.
The stickman asked "your bet Diane?" She, half stunned, nodded
yes. The pit boss saw it all, shrugged and said, "She's not

supposed to bet while working, but it's Christmas..0.K."

You can imagine how my pard and I felt. We just had to make
her a winner. I've told you that 6 is the most difficult trans-
formation. 1'd need all the help I could get, but I must try!

The shooter threw us to the far end of the table. Suddenly,

in mid air there was a smell of smoke, and the fire alarm
sounded. IT WAS A 10 inch gong and I had never heard such a
loud bell, but it did the trick. I changed to a 6. The stick-

man announced "Box Cars, pays 32 to 1."

The smoke was just a burned piece of toast in the kitchen. Was

this another Christmas miracle?
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Things happened fast. The gruff old guy grabbed us dice and
disappeared into the crowd. I was so exhausted I went into

a deep sleep.

When I awoke I heard Diane talking quietly to a baby. It was
her baby and it was several months old. The fire alarm and
the excitement of winning all that money had caused the baby
to come early. The gruff old guy only wanted the dice for
souvenirs. When he found out that Diane had the baby on

Christmas, he gave us to the baby for a Christmas present.

The best part is, I sit on a shelf in the baby's room. When-
ever she wiggles the bells on her crib go jingle, jingle,
jingle. I can hardly wait 'til she learns to walk, and mother

Diane puts Mischief Bells on baby Di's shoes.

Maybe when she grows up she'll have:

"Rings on her fingers and bells on her toes”

And she'll carry me wherever she goes.
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John Leland, Jr.
40704 Robin Street
Fremont, CA 94538
(415) 656-1310
Words - 1937

How Diamondfield Jack Affected My Life

I first met Diamondfield Jack as a youngster of nine. I'm not
sure of the year, but it was probably before 1938. At that time

my parents were renting a small ground floor apartment in San

Francisco's Haight/Ashbury District. One evening just before
dinner the door bell rang. I pressed the buzzer button to allow
someone to open the front lobby door. I opened the door of our

apartment and looked down the long dark hallway to see who had

rung the bell.

I saw a figure coming towards me that I did not recognize. To a
nine year old boy all adults look large, but somehow this man was

"different". Adults would say he had an "aura".

The stranger asked for my father. I called Dad and when he came,

naturally, curious, I hung around the entry to listen.

At first my father did not appear to recognize the man, but after
a few words, ....a hearty hand shake, I heard "Won't you stay for
dinner, we're just about to sit down"? Later, Dad said "dinner

might have been the main reason for Jack's visit".




After seating Jack in the 1living room, Mom and Dad conversed
quietly in the kitchen for a few moments then I was told to set

another place for dinner.

I don't remember what we ate or much of the dinner conversation
but afterwards the talk turned to "guns and Nevada", which to me

were the "be all and the end all".

The general topics stick, but unfortunately most of the particu-
lars have vanished from memory with the exception that Jack was a
character indeed, larger than life, and down on his luck. He was

a legend in his own time.

One other time, I'm sure it was still before I was twelve, 1I'd
guess it was three years after the first visit, he showed up at
dinner again. This time I remembered him immediately. Again
memory fails concerning the dinner conversation, but two things
do stand out. A long discourse about a machine he was
involved/investing in to make "seamless" ladies stockings, and a
monologue on the benefits to mind and body of exercises with
"Indian Clubs". He demonstrated the physical part with glass
"roughneck" milk bottles, to the consternation of my mother. He
tossed three or four around, swung his arms in big circles with
the bottles in both hands, tossed them to me and I tossed them
back. How we did this with the low ceiling and small space with-

out breaking any bottles or dishes is something I can't answer.

My (now) 99 year old mother still remembers that visit.




That is all I know or remember "first hand" about Diamondfield

Jack Davis.

He has been described as "nefarious" in at least one book. He
certainly did not appear that way to a young kid, many years
after the incidents that caused his notoriety. He has also been
described as garrulous and with a stammer. Garrulous implies
lots of talk about unimportant things. I would suggest that
different things are important or unimportant to different peo-
ple, so I would think loquacious might more accurately describe
him at the time I'm recalling. I also don't recollect any stam-
mer. Some have said he liked kids, he seemed to take a liking to

me, back then.

My Uncle "B" told me of a younger brother, Uncle "C", and Jack
going on more than one camping trip, and I remember visiting the

younger brother in San Francisco. He was a lifelong bachelor and

when I was a kid I walked over to his "Diggins" many times. It
was during the depression...times were tough and it was a pretty
spare place, but always neat. There were lots of good western

pictures on the walls, and mementos of ranch life, such as a
silver mounted horse bit, a lariat woven from horse tail hair and

a big broad blade knife with an ivory handle that hung by the

door.

He had a wood burning stove that always gave his place a nice
wood smoke smell. When he cooked his delicious red beans the

aroma always made me hungry even before I knocked at his door.

He did all his own cooking on the wood stove and baked too.




Sometimes he used a little folding camp oven and sometimes he
used a pretty good sized cast iron "Dutch Oven". 1I'd visit with
him and eat most of what was going to be his dinner and maybe the

next nights dinner too.

He would tell me lots of wonderful stories of camping, hunting,
fishing, riding, scrapes with bears, hooking a huge trout, some
confrontations with thieves, rustlers and Indians. Whether true
or I have embellished them in my memory, I'll never know for

sure. But I treasure the stories that Uncle "C" told, just as

they are.

He never called him "Diamondfield" Jack, but now I'm sure that

the "Jack" he referred to was really Diamondfield Jack Davis.

One story might have taken place in north eastern Nevada.

After quite a long hot ride Jack and my uncle "C" set up camp
beside a small stream and were bathing in the river when Jack
came out to find a half dozen Indians rummaging through their
grub bags. Jack always carried some kind of a weapon, and since
his pistol would get wet, he had a big "brushwacker" (knife) in a
special rig around his right calf. The Indians had gotten out
and unwrapped a side of bacon. Now a man stark naked and drip-
ping wet would seem at a distinct disadvantage, both psychologi-
cally and physically when confronted by half a dozen Indians bent
on (at least) getting your grub. Not Jack! With a shout of

"C....get your guns", he charged out of the stream bed and with a

motion that was almost too quick for the eye, drew the knife from




the sheath and threw it so hard that the blade went through the

side of bacon. Most of the Indians fled when Uncle "C" came up

with a cocked Colt in each hand. The Indian with the bacon was
too surprised and scared to move. Uncle "C" never told me if
Jack meant to kill the Indian or just claim his bacon. In view

of what happened next I think the knife in the bacon was a warn-

ing!

Jack walked over, very dignified, and yanked the blade from the
slab. 1In the process the Indian let go without a struggle but
they sure gave each other some "hard looks". He made sign lan-
guage with another Indian who seemed to be a "Chief". After some

pidgin English and more sign language it appeared they knew Jack

by reputation.

Some more talk and signing then Jack walked over to a fallen
tree, put the slab of bacon on it and handed the "Chief" his
knife (handle first) and indicated the chief was to cut it into
two pieces. After a big show of dividing it equally the chief
cut it in two. Jack then made a big show of trying to decide

which piece to take.

After the Indians left Jack told my uncle that the Indians were
not so much hungry, as wanting the fat off the bacon. The Indi-
ans didn't consider stealing the same way we do. There were only

two of us and a half slab would do just fine, whereas the band of

Indians would use up the fat very fast.




About a week or so later, some of the Indians came back and
brought them a little of the bacon with all the fat stripped out.
They had also "jerked" the bacon and in the process had added
some herbs. It was delicious, but of course very tough and dry.
Incidentally, that may be how Jerky got it's name. Some Indians
"jerked" rather than cut the meat from the fat. They also
brought some smoked trout... It wasn't so good. The Indians
seemed to expect something in return, probably some whiskey, but
Jack just played dumb for a while and finally gave them about a
quarter of a sack of Bull Durham along with some papers. They
seemed to think the papers were special and left, if not happy at
least satisfied, and wary of Jack... Wanting to keep on the

"good side" of him and, by association, with my Uncle "C".

When Uncle "C" died I inherited the big ivory handled knife that
always hung by his door. He never told me that it was Jack's
knife,and I'll never know for sure. During the Korean "con-
flict" I carried a "Trailmaker" manufactured by Marbles of Glad-
stone, Michigan, U.S.A. 1It's blade is almost 10" and it weighs
over a pound. I carried it in a sheath strapped to my right
calf and tucked into my flight boot in a rig as much like Jack's
as I could make it. I never came face to face with any North
Koreans or Communist Chinese and it's probably lucky for me. I

never got "Lightening Fast" on the draw or very accurate a throw.

Later in life I took one of my 13 year old sons and a young
nephew on a back pack fishing trip in the High Sierras. On the

second day we made camp and did some fishing. 1In late afternoon




four big kids (approximately 16 to 19 years old) made their camp
quite close to ours. There was no reason for them to camp so
close, but it's a free country. Soon, three of them came into
our camp and it was obvious they had been drinking. We were
fixing supper and they asked if we had any food to spare. They
didn't actually make a demand, but were more than a little bold,
with not a hint of "Please". I declined to give them anything at
all and cut short their effort to start a conversation, making it
plain they weren't welcome in our camp. They eyed my "Trailmak-
er" in its Korean War Rig and at the same time looked over our
camp, then went back to theirs. I watched them pretty carefully
and as night fell they didn't settle down but continued to drink
and become more and more rowdy. Pretty soon we could hear curses
and references to our canine ancestry. I got up and stood within
the circle of light from our camp fire at a time I felt the other
camp was watching. I quickly drew my "Trailmaker" and twirled it
around, flipping it end ov;r end and catching it in either hand.
I had practiced this for hours at a time as a kid, but hadn't
done it for years. Of course, this was "just for show", but when
I threw it at a tree I think I heard some comments from the other
camp. The big knife made a very satisfying "thunk" just out of
the firelight. I walked over to the tree but couldn't find the
"Trailmaker". Glancing around, I couldn't see anything as it was

so dark, but of course, I didn't want the other camp to know. I

pretended to put the knife back in its rig, and told my son and

nephew to hit the sack.




The other camp was very quiet, I suspect they weren't used to

drinking.

The next morning at first light I got up to relieve myself. Of

course I went over to where the knife should be.

I found it stuck into a quaking aspen about 5 feet beyond where I

had been aiming.

Do you think Jack affected my life?
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